In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S250670

 \mathbf{v} .

EDGAR ISIDRO GARCIA,

Defendant and Appellant.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

 \mathbf{v} .

JOSE LUIS VALENCIA,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S250218

Fifth Appellate District, Case Nos. F073515/F072943 Kern County Superior Court, Case Nos. LF010246A/LF010246B The Honorable Gary T. Friedman, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUES PRESENTED

This Court directed the parties to brief the following issues:

Does gang expert testimony regarding uncharged predicate offenses to establish a "pattern of criminal gang activity" under Penal Code section 186.22, subdivision (e) constitute background information or case-specific evidence within the meaning of *People v. Sanchez* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 665? Was any error prejudicial?

INTRODUCTION

People v. Sanchez (2016) 63 Cal.4th 665 distinguished between the kinds of hearsay an expert witness may and may not convey to a jury in support of his or her opinion. Sanchez held that expert testimony conveying "case-specific hearsay" is inadmissible. (Id. at p. 686.) This Court simply defined "case-specific facts" as "those relating to the particular events and participants alleged to have been involved in the case being tried." (Id. at p. 676.) At the same time, Sanchez reaffirmed state law establishing that an expert may relate as a basis for an opinion, even if technically hearsay, "background information and knowledge in the area of his expertise." (Id. at p. 685.)

This case concerns a prosecution's gang expert testimony about predicate offenses used to prove a "pattern of criminal gang activity" and the existence of a "criminal street gang." (Pen. Code, § 186.22, subds. (e), (f).) The gang expert related details from police reports and conversations with officers who had investigated the predicate crimes. That testimony did not

¹ All further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise specified.

contravene *Sanchez*'s case-specific hearsay prohibition. The predicate offenses in this case did not involve the defendants or any of the participants in the charged crimes. Thus, they did not relate to "the particular events and participants alleged to have been involved in the case being tried." (*Sanchez, supra*, 63 Cal.4th at p. 676.)

Rather, the facts about the predicate offenses were background information. Sanchez recognized that gang expert testimony "about general gang behavior or descriptions of the [] gang's conduct and its territory," or, in other words, testimony about the "gang's history and general operations," was admissible as background information. (Sanchez, supra, 63 Cal.4th at p. 698.) Predicate offenses are historical facts about the gang and its conduct and operations, the knowledge of which is acquired through a gang expert's training and expertise from sources accepted in his or her field of expertise. In this way, evidence of predicate offenses is analogous to evidence of a gang's primary activities or common identifying signs or symbols (see § 186.22, subd. (f)), which are often proven by expert testimony.

The Court of Appeal's opinions in this case improperly expanded Sanchez's definition of case-specific facts. Sanchez provided a straightforward, bright-line rule that is readily applied. Rather than focusing on the content and nature of the information conveyed (see People v. Veamatahau (2020) 9 Cal.5th 16, 30), the Court of Appeal wrongly focused on the source and extent of the gang expert's knowledge. Whether a fact is case specific depends on its relationship to the people and events

involved in the case being tried, not on how the expert came to learn of the fact. And, contrary to the Court of Appeal's view, deeming predicate-offense evidence background information would not allow the prosecution to prove the existence of a gang without proof of the requisite elements.

At the same time, the Court of Appeal's view would result in the practical hazard of requiring multiple mini-trials to prove the requisite predicate offenses in all gang cases. A potential parade of witnesses, likely numbering more than the witnesses needed to prove the underlying charged crimes, with personal knowledge of the facts underlying the predicate offenses would have to testify. The focus in every gang case would expand from the offenses committed by the defendant to the offenses committed by other gang members. Such mini-trials would consume substantial time, cause jury confusion about the issues being tried, and call greater attention to potentially inflammatory gang-related evidence.

In any event, any error in the admission of case-specific facts was not prejudicial in this case. Certified records of conviction and admissible expert opinion testimony established the pattern of criminal gang activity necessary to prove the existence of a criminal street gang.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Garcia and Valencia Shoot at Two Victims and Are Charged with Gang Offenses and Enhancements under Section 186.22

Around 1:00 a.m. on a summer night, Alejandro P. and Jose B. were talking at a carwash in Arvin.² (2RT 223-224, 226-227, 231, 239-240, 275-276; 3RT 461, 496.)³

Suddenly, gunfire erupted. Arvin Police Officer Jorge Gonzalez was driving by the carwash when he saw a white Chevrolet Silverado pickup truck driving by at approximately five miles per hour with its lights off. (2RT 275-276, 280-282.) He saw "muzzle flashes" coming from the front passenger window of the pickup truck and heard seven to ten gunshots. (2RT 285-286.) Bullets ricocheted off the parking stalls. (2RT 250.) Alejandro and Jose ran, but Jose was shot in the leg. (2RT 249-250; 3RT 475-476, 479-480.)

After seeing the muzzle flashes, Officer Gonzalez pursued the white pickup truck; the pursuit became a 69-minute high-speed chase. (2RT 289-294.) During the pursuit, Officer Gonzalez observed Garcia, who was sitting in the passenger seat, throw an object out of the passenger-side window. (2RT 290-291, 300.) The cylinder to a pistol was later found along the route of

² The People will hereafter refer to the victims only by first name for simplicity and privacy concerns.

³ For simplicity, the People will cite only to the record on appeal in Garcia's case (denoted "CT" and "RT") unless the information is found on a different page number or is found only in the record in Valencia's case (denoted "VCT" and "VRT").

the high speed chase. (3RT 620-622.) When the pursuit ended, both Garcia and Valencia got out of the white pickup truck and were arrested. (2RT 302.) Gunshot residue was detected on the front passenger door of the white pickup truck. (4RT 768-769, 771.)

Garcia and Valencia were charged with various offenses, including attempted premeditated murder (§§ 187, subd. (a), 189, 664), evading a police officer (Veh. Code, § 2800.2), active participation in a criminal street gang (§ 186.22, subd. (a)), assault with a firearm (§ 245, subd. (a)(2)), and discharge of a firearm from a motor vehicle (§ 26100, subds. (b), (c)), along with several enhancements. Of relevance here, as to all but one count, it was alleged that Garcia and Valencia committed their respective offenses for the benefit of a criminal street gang (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1)). Garcia was also alleged to have personally discharged a firearm and inflicted great bodily injury (§§ 12022.5, subd. (a), 12022.53, subd. (d), 12022.55, 12022.7, subd. (a)) and, as to Valencia, it was alleged that a principal personally discharged a firearm causing great bodily injury during the charged attempted murders (§ 12022.53, subds. (d), (e)(1)). (1CT 135-154.)

B. Garcia and Valencia are Convicted After the Prosecution Establishes the Existence of a Criminal Street Gang Using Expert Testimony

Two joint trials were held. In the first trial, the jury found Valencia guilty of evading a police officer but was otherwise unable to reach verdicts. (2CT 409; 1VCT 244; 2VCT 388.) In the second trial, the jury found Garcia and Valencia guilty on the

remaining charges and found all the corresponding enhancement allegations true. (3CT 790-811, 813-814; 3VCT 784-798, 805-806.) Valencia then admitted the gang allegation as to the evading count. (3VCT 807.)

The prosecution presented expert testimony to prove the substantive gang offense of active participation in a criminal street gang and the gang enhancements (§ 186.22, subds. (a) & (b)(1)). Officer Ryan Calderon, who had worked for the Arvin Police Department for nine years and had specialized in gang enforcement for five and a half years (4RT 850-851), testified as a gang expert. He had personally investigated approximately 200 crimes involving the Arvina 13 gang. (4RT 852.)

Officer Calderon explained that Arvin is home to one gang known as Arvina 13, which claims the entire City of Arvin as its territory. (4RT 851.) The carwash where the shooting occurred is within Arvina 13 gang territory. (4RT 853.) The main rival of Arvina 13 is a gang from the nearby city of Lamont known as Lamont 13, or Varrio Chicos Lamont, but any gang that identifies with the Norteños is also considered a rival. (*Ibid.*) The Arvina 13 gang associates with the color blue, and gang members will usually display the color by wearing blue clothing or by carrying a blue handkerchief. (4RT 853-854.) The Arvina 13 gang also associates with certain signs and symbols that gang members will tattoo on their bodies, write in notebooks, or use in graffiti. (4RT 854.) These signs and symbols include the words "Arvina," "Arvina X3," "Arvina Poor Side," and "Poor Side Locos," along with abbreviations of these words, such as "PS." (4RT 854-855.)

The gang also identifies with the symbol "KC," meaning Kern County. (4RT 855.) It is common for Arvina 13 gang members to make specific hand signals showing their allegiance to Arvina 13. (*Ibid.*)

The primary activities of the Arvina 13 criminal street gang include grand theft, vehicle theft, felony assault, felony vandalism, intimidation of witnesses, assault with a weapon, possession of a firearm, murder, narcotic sales, and burglary. (4RT 858-859.) Through the commission of crimes, especially violent crimes, the Arvina 13 gang and its members benefit by instilling fear in the community so that the community is intimidated into not reporting crimes and thus, as a result, gang members are not punished for their criminal behavior. (4RT 860.)

Officer Calderon testified, without objection,⁴ about three predicate offenses committed by other members of the Arvina 13 criminal street gang to prove a "pattern of criminal gang activity" and the existence of a "criminal street gang" (§ 186.22, subds. (e) & (f)). (4RT 861-867.) In preparation for his testimony, Officer Calderon reviewed certified copies of pleadings and docket information arising from the three predicate offenses, which were admitted into evidence. (4RT 861-867; 1 Supp. CT 4-93 [People's Exhibits 65-71]; 1 Supp. VCT 18-107 [same].) He also reviewed

⁴ This Court held in *People v. Perez* (2020) 9 Cal.5th 1 that a defense counsel's failure to object on confrontation clause grounds before *Sanchez* was decided does not forfeit a claim based upon *Sanchez*.

relevant police reports, which were not admitted into evidence, and spoke with the officers involved in the investigations in those cases. (4RT 862, 864, 866.)

The first predicate offense was committed by an Arvina 13 gang member named Orion Jimenez. (4RT 861-862.) According to Officer Calderon, on June 7, 2012, Jimenez, aka "Droopy," and another gang member approached a man walking down the street and told him, "Give me your money, ese." (4RT 862.) Jimenez and his comrade then beat up the man, causing a laceration on his head, and started going through his pockets. (*Ibid.*) When a female bystander yelled out that she was calling the police, the assailants ran away. (*Ibid.*) Jimenez was identified in a photo lineup by the victim and was arrested. (4RT 863.) He was ultimately convicted of attempted robbery, assault by means of force likely to produce great bodily injury, and participation in a criminal street gang. (*Ibid.*)

The second predicate offense was committed by Adam Arellano. (4RT 864.) Officer Calderon testified that on January 13, 2014,⁵ Arellano, aka "Little Loony," and some friends were hanging out in front of a man's house, and one of the friends got in a fight with the man because he had urinated outside the house. (4RT 862.) Arellano then lifted up his shirt, exposing an "Arvina" tattoo, yelled out "Arvina," and said, "I don't have this

⁵ The date in the reporter's transcript is wrong. People's Exhibits 67, 68, and 71 reflect an offense date of January 17, 2010. (See 1 Supp. CT 6, 81-83, 86.) The discrepancy is of no consequence.

on my chest for nothing." (4RT 864.) Arellano then pointed a firearm at the man and attempted to fire the firearm twice, but it misfired both times. (*Ibid.*) Arellano and his friend fled. (*Ibid.*) Arellano was ultimately convicted of assault with a deadly weapon and participation in a criminal street gang. (4RT 865.) Officer Calderon also opined that Arellano's crime was committed for the benefit of and in association with the Arvina 13 gang. (*Ibid.*)

The third predicate offense was committed by Jose Arredondo, aka "Checks." (4RT 865-866.) Officer Calderon testified that on December 18, 2007, Arredondo and several other Arvina 13 gang members drove into rival gang territory, Lamont, and displayed gang signs towards individuals they believed to be Lamont gang members. (4RT 866.) They also yelled out, "Fuck all lobs. They are rats." (*Ibid.*) One of the Arvina 13 gang members fired a shotgun from the vehicle. (4RT 867.) Arredondo was ultimately convicted of assault by means of force likely to produce great bodily injury. (*Ibid.*) Officer Calderon opined that the crime was committed for the benefit of, and in association with, the Arvina 13 gang. (*Ibid.*)

In Officer Calderon's opinion, Garcia and Valencia were both active Arvina 13 gang members at the time of the shooting in this case. (4RT 881, 887.) Officer Calderon based his opinions on police reports, tattoos, and field interview cards describing prior

police contacts with them. (4RT 867-887.)⁶ Officer Calderon also opined that the crimes in this case were committed for the benefit of and in association with the Arvina 13 gang. (4RT 888.)

As indicated *ante*, in the second trial the jury found Garcia and Valencia guilty of the substantive gang offense and found the gang enhancement allegations as to each of them true. Garcia was sentenced to an aggregate indeterminate term of 55 years to life plus a determinate term of 20 years for the attempted murders and corresponding firearm enhancements. (4CT 892-893, 901.) Valencia was sentenced to an aggregate indeterminate term of 39 years to life plus a determinate term of 20 years for the attempted murders and corresponding firearm enhancements. (3VCT 813, 819.)

C. The Court of Appeal Reverses the Substantive Gang Convictions and the Gang Enhancement Findings

On direct appeal, both Garcia and Valencia asserted that the gang expert's testimony concerning the predicate offenses constituted case-specific testimonial hearsay in violation of *Crawford v. Washington* (2004) 541 U.S. 36 and *Sanchez, supra,* 63 Cal.4th 665. In separate unpublished opinions, the Fifth District Court of Appeal agreed and held that Officer Calderon prejudicially related case-specific testimonial hearsay when he

⁶ Although the expert's opinions themselves were not inadmissible under *Sanchez* (see *Sanchez*, *supra*, 63 Cal.4th at pp. 685-686), the People implicitly conceded on appeal that the expert's testimony relating case-specific facts contained in the police reports and field interview cards was inadmissible under *Sanchez* (see *post*, p. 18, fn. 7).

testified about the predicate offenses. (People v. Garcia (July 10, 2018, F073515) [nonpub. opn.] pp. 11-20 (Garcia opn.); People v. Valencia (July 10, 2018, F072943) [nonpub. opn.] pp. 15-24 (Valencia opn.).) 7

The Court of Appeal considered that Officer Calderon derived the details about the predicate offenses from conversations with other officers involved in the criminal investigations and their reports. (Garcia opn., pp. 17-18; Valencia opn., pp. 21-22.) While acknowledging that Sanchez defined case-specific facts as "those relating to the particular events and participants alleged to have been involved in the case being tried" (Sanchez, supra, 63 Cal.4th at p. 676), the Court of Appeal reasoned, "[t]estimony establishing a predicate offense, including a predicate offender's gang affiliation at the time of the offense, is case specific because the facts are beyond the scope of a gang expert's general knowledge." (Garcia opn., p. 18; Valencia opn., p. 22.) Whether a predicate crime actually occurred and was actually committed by a member of a particular gang, though not specific to the conduct of the defendants, were nonetheless case-specific in the court's view. (Garcia opn., p. 18; Valencia

⁷ Also under *Sanchez*, Garcia and Valencia both challenged the gang expert testimony regarding the police reports and the field interview cards involving each of them. The Court of Appeal accepted implied concessions that this testimony was improperly admitted but did not reach the issue of whether it was prejudicial in light of its holdings concerning the predicate-offense evidence. (*Garcia* opn., p. 20; *Valencia* opn., p. 24.) The court also rejected arguments that the claims were forfeited. (*Garcia* opn., pp. 11-12; *Valencia* opn., pp. 15-16.)

opn., pp. 22-23.) "To hold otherwise," it reasoned, "would allow the prosecution to prove the existence of a gang through predicate offenses without any actual evidence in the record that crimes were committed by actual gang members." (*Garcia* opn., p. 18; *Valencia* opn., p. 23.)

The Court of Appeal further concluded that the erroneous admission of the predicate-offense evidence was prejudicial, requiring the reversal of the substantive gang convictions and the gang enhancement findings, though reversal of the remaining convictions and enhancements was not warranted. (*Garcia* opn., p. 19; *Valencia* opn., p. 23.) The court remanded the matter to permit the People an opportunity to retry the gang-related allegations. (*Garcia* opn., p. 23; *Valencia* opn., p. 24.)

D. This Court Grants Review and Subsequently Orders Briefing on the Current Issues

This Court granted the People's petitions for review on October 17, 2018. Briefing was initially deferred pending this Court's decision in *People v. Perez, supra*, 9 Cal.5th 1 on the forfeiture issue. This Court subsequently consolidated Garcia's and Valencia's cases for all purposes and ordered briefing on the predicate offense issues.

ARGUMENT

I. PREDICATE-OFFENSE EVIDENCE THAT DOES NOT INVOLVE THE DEFENDANTS OR OTHER PARTICIPANTS IN THE CHARGED CRIME IS BACKGROUND INFORMATION, NOT CASE-SPECIFIC EVIDENCE

In *Sanchez*, this Court held that testifying experts may relate to the jury background information, even when based on hearsay statements, but they may not relate case-specific facts asserted in hearsay statements unless those facts are independently proven by competent evidence or are covered by a hearsay exception. (Sanchez, supra, 63 Cal.4th at pp. 685-686.) Sanchez defined "case-specific facts" as "those relating to the particular events and participants alleged to have been involved in the case being tried." (Id. at p. 676.) Applying this rule in the gang context, the Court explained that an expert may testify "about general gang behavior" and describe the gang's "conduct," "territory," "history[,] and general operations." (Id. at p. 698.)

Evidence of predicate offenses, introduced to establish the existence of a criminal street gang under section 186.22, when the predicates do not involve the defendants or other participants in the charged offenses, constitutes background information under *Sanchez*. It is evidence of the gang's "conduct," "history[,] and general operations." (*Sanchez*, *supra*, 63 Cal.4th at p. 698.) This predicate-offense evidence does not satisfy *Sanchez*'s definition of "case-specific facts" because it does not relate to the defendants or the acts underlying the charged crimes.

The Court of Appeal in this case improperly expanded *Sanchez*'s straightforward definition. Instead of focusing on the nature of the information conveyed, the court erroneously focused on the extent and source of an expert's knowledge and the use of the information. Adopting the Court of Appeal's erroneous interpretation would lead to the untenable result of requiring multiple mini-trials on predicate offenses in every gang case.

A. Sanchez Defined Case-Specific Facts as "Those Relating to the Particular Events and Participants Alleged to Have Been Involved in the Case Being Tried"

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