IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

No. S250218

THE PEOPLE,
Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

JOSE LUIS VALENCIA,
Defendant and Appellant.

Court of Appeal of California
Fifth District
No. F072943

Superior Court of California
Kern County
No. LF010246B
Gary T. Friedman

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Hilda Scheib (SBN # 96081)
P O Box 29098
San Francisco, CA 94129
(415) 750-9397
hildascheib@gmail.com

Attorney for Defendant and Appellant
Jose Luis Valencia

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

A “criminal street gang” is defined as:

“any ongoing organization, association, or group of three or more persons, whether formal or informal, having as one of its primary activities the commission of one or more of [enumerated offenses] having a common name or common identifying sign or symbol, and whose members individually or collectively engage in, or have engaged in, a pattern of criminal gang activity.

(§ 186.22, subd. (f).)

The phrase “primary activities,” as used in the gang statute, implies that the commission of one or more of the statutorily enumerated crimes be one of the group’s ‘chief’ or ‘principal’ occupations.” (*People v. Sengpadychith* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 316, 323.)

A “pattern of criminal gang activity” is defined as:

“[T]he commission of, attempted commission of, conspiracy to commit, or solicitation of, sustained juvenile petition for, or conviction of two or more [enumerated offenses], provided at least one of these offenses occurred after the effective date of [the STEP Act] and the last of those offenses occurred within three years after a prior offense, and the offenses were committed on separate occasions, or by two or more persons.

(§ 186.22, subd. (e).)

These are commonly referred to as “predicate offenses.”

2. Distinguishing background information from case-specific facts.

In *Sanchez*, this Court relied upon four examples to clarify the general principles distinguishing background information from case-specific facts. In so doing, this Court differentiated predicate offenses from mere gang conduct, history and general operations, since the predicate offenses establish the existence of the specific gang in which these particular participants are “alleged to have been involved in the case being tried.” (*Sanchez, supra*, 63 Cal.4th at p. 676.) The example most closely relevant to this case involves a gang situation:

That an associate of the defendant has a diamond tattooed on his arm would be a case-specific fact that could be established by a witness who saw the tattoo or by an authenticated photograph. That the diamond is a symbol adopted by a given street gang would be background information about which a gang expert could testify. The expert could also be allowed to give an opinion that the presence of a diamond tattoo shows the person belongs to the gang.

(*Sanchez, supra*, 63 Cal.4th at p. 677.)

As this Court explained, the hearsay rule traditionally does not bar an expert from testifying as to “general knowledge in his field of expertise” (*Sanchez, supra*, 63 Cal.4th at p. 676) or “concerning background information regarding his knowledge and expertise and premises generally accepted in his field.” (*Id.* at p. 685.) “Knowledge in a specified area is what differentiates the expert from a lay witness, and makes his testimony uniquely valuable to the jury in explaining matters ‘beyond the common

experience of an ordinary juror.” (*Id.* at p. 676, citing *People v. McDowell* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 395, 420.) As *Sanchez* noted, the common law recognized that experts often acquire their expert knowledge from hearsay. “To reject a professional physician or mathematician because the fact or some facts to which he testifies are known to him only upon the authority of others would be to ignore the accepted methods of professional work and to insist on impossible standards.” (*Sanchez, supra, at a p. 676*, citing Volek, *Federal Rules of Evidence 703: The Back Door and the Confrontation Clause, Ten Years Later* (2011) 80 Fordham L.Rev. 959, 965.)

Thus, *Sanchez* upheld the propriety of an expert’s testimony on background information, so long as that background information was a product of the expert’s particularized training, education and knowledge and reflected the “methods of professional work.” (*Sanchez, supra, 63 Cal.4th at . 676.*)

In contrast, “an expert is traditionally precluded from relating *case-specific* facts about which the expert has no independent knowledge.” (*Sanchez, supra, 63 Cal.4th at p. 676.*) “Case-specific facts are those relating to the particular events and participants alleged to have been involved in the case being tried.” (*Ibid.*) But the Court did not say “the *crime* for which the defendant is being charged.” The “case being tried” includes sentence enhancements, which requires proof that Arvina 13 is a criminal street gang, which in turn, requires proof of at least two predicate offenses. (§ 186.22, subd. (f).)

Predicate offenses, unlike the other required elements to prove a criminal street gang, require proof by the prosecution of specific incidents involving specific people. (§ 186.22, subd. (e).) The

details of their existence – including the gang affiliation of their perpetrators -- are factual matters, and thus distinct and distinguishable from the “primary activities” requirement, which can rely on an expert’s general background knowledge. Facts relating to predicate offenses, on the other hand, are not generally matters of which an expert has independent knowledge. Therefore, an expert’s reliance on them to establish this critical element of the prosecution’s case violates both *Sanchez* and *Crawford*.

Respondent admits that predicate offenses involving a defendant or any other alleged participant are case-specific. (RB, pp. 26–27) Still, respondent urges that “expert testimony regarding predicate offenses that do not involve the defendant or any other alleged participant in the charged crimes is not case specific,” since they “do not relate to the particular events and participants alleged to have been involved in the case being tried.” (RB, at p. 27.) What respondent ignores is that, even when the predicate offense does not involve the defendant or a co-participant, the elements of the enhancement are still case-specific. Only an expert with personal knowledge or competent evidence of the predicate offender’s gang affiliation must establish the connection between the predicate offender’s gang affiliation and the defendant.

Subsequent to *Sanchez*, this Court again considered the distinction between background information and case-specific facts in *People v. Veamatahau* (2020) 9 Cal.5th 16. There, the expert, whose expertise was in forensic testing of controlled substances, testified to following the “standard practice” of personally examining the pills in the defendant’s possession, then

comparing the visual characteristics of the pills' markings against a database that described various pharmaceuticals. (*Id.* at p. 26.) The expert testified that this was the accepted method for testing the controlled substance. Based on the database, the expert opined the pills contained alprazolam. (*Id.* at p. 22.)

This Court concluded that the testimony, though hearsay, was background information and not case-specific, since the witness would have employed the skills, training and knowledge that made him an expert to analyze the information, form an opinion as to its reliability and apply the information to the case's independently established facts. (*People v. Veamatahau, supra, 9 Cal.5th at p. 29.*) "In short, information from the database is not case-specific but is the kind of background information experts have traditionally been able to rely on and relate to the jury." (*Id.* at p. 17.) The testimony "related general background information relied upon in the criminalist's field." (*Id.* at p. 27.) Like in *Sanchez*, where this Court explained "the latitude" given experts to rely on general background information *in their fields*, the drug identification expert in *Veamatahau* was not required to independently conduct the drug test. As *Sanchez* underscored, "a physician is not required to personally replicate all medical experiments dating back to the time of Galen in order to relate generally accepted medical knowledge that will assist the jury in deciding the case at hand. . . . When giving such testimony, the expert often relates relevant principles or generalized information rather than reciting specific statements made by others." (*Sanchez, supra, 63 Cal.4th at p. 676.*) In *Veamatahau*, the computer database revealed nothing about "the particular events. . . in the case being tried, i.e., the particular pills that

were seized from defendant.” (*People v. Veamatahau, supra, 9 Cal.5th at p. 27.*) But the expert’s *personal* examination provided that critical information, which was case-specific evidence as to the nature of the defendant’s pills. *Veamatahau* too concludes that an expert’s reliance on background information is proper, but only so long as the information is the kind of background information generally accepted by experts in his field. (*Ibid.*) The latitude afforded experts in *Veamatahau* extends no further.

C. Under the facts of this case, Officer Calderon’s testimony regarding the three predicate offenses was case-specific.

As discussed *supra*, Officer Calderon testified to three predicate offenses, each included on the list of applicable offenses in [section 186.22, subdivision \(e\)\(1–33\)](#). The detective admitted that he had no personal knowledge of the alleged predicate offenders or of their gang affiliation, if any. Still, respondent argues that the predicate offenses in this case are not case-specific, since they do not “relate to the particular events and participants alleged to have been involved in the case being tried.” (RB, at p. 27, citing *Sanchez, supra, 63 Cal.4th at p. 676.*)

Contrary to respondent’s assertions, the predicate offenses in this case were case-specific, since predicate perpetrators are participants involved in the case, albeit not as defendants. Testimony regarding their status as gang members is critical to establish the necessary element for a true finding of the existence of the gang, requiring proof of a pattern of criminal gang activity. The occurrence of specific predicate offenses is a factual matter,

upon which the prosecution's theory of the case depends, i.e., the predicate perpetrators' membership in the same gang as appellant.

This is analogous to the gang example provided by this Court in *Sanchez* to illustrate what a case-specific fact is. The example the *Sanchez* Court provided of a diamond tattoo refers to "an associate of the defendant" with a diamond tattoo on his arm as a case-specific fact. (*Sanchez, supra*, 63 Cal.4th at p. 677.) Notably, the example refers to an "associate" of the defendant, not the defendant. This intimates that the "associate" in the example is a fellow gang-member, rather than a participant in the charged offense, since such a participant in the charged offense would logically be deemed a "codefendant." Thus, the example given by the Court in *Sanchez* logically refers to a third-party, not the defendant in the charged offenses.

Applying the diamond example to this case demonstrates that Calderon provided case-specific hearsay evidence. That an associate of appellant who had committed an offense enumerated in [section 186.22, subdivision \(e\)](#) was an Arvina 13 gang member is a case-specific fact that could be established by independent evidence, e.g., the testimony of a law enforcement officer to whom the offender admitted gang membership or by documentary evidence that established his membership. That a predicate offense is one listed in [section 186.22, subdivision \(e\)](#) and committed by a gang member is background information on which a gang expert could testify. The expert then could opine that the associate's conduct and gang status constituted a predicate offense which is relevant to a determination of the gang's primary activities. As the Court of Appeal in this case

reasoned, “Whether a specific crime actually occurred and was actually committed by a member of a particular gang is analogous to the presence of the diamond tattoo, not the explanation regarding its meaning, in *Sanchez*.” (Slp.opn. at, p. 22.)

It is also clear that Officer Calderon’s testimony was not background information in the area of his expertise. As he made clear, he had no personal knowledge of the facts relating to the predicate offenses, His testimony was hearsay about specific crimes, committed by specific individuals; it was not “testimony regarding his general knowledge in the field of his expertise.” (*Sanchez, supra*, 63 Cal.4th at p. 676.) While “an expert’s testimony concerning background information regarding his knowledge and expertise and premises generally accepted in his field” (*id. at p. 685*) is appropriate as background information, testimony as to the gang affiliation of a predicate perpetrator is not such background information and does not rely on “premises generally accepted in the field.”

As the Court in *Sanchez* explained, the expert’s right to testify as to “general knowledge in the field of his expertise” derives from practical considerations (*Ibid.*) In such instances, the expert often relates relevant principles or generalized information rather than reciting specific statements made by others.” Thus, the gang expert’s permissible testimony is “about general gang behavior,” and describe[s] the gang’s “conduct,” “territory” “history, and general operations” (*Sanchez, supra*, 63 Cal.4th at p. 698) This is appropriate because information about a gang’s history and general operations is recurring in various cases and not specific to the individual appellant or his case, as respondent

recognizes. (RB, p. 28, citing Edward J. Imwinkelreid & David L. Faigman, Evidence Code Section 802: The Neglected Key to Rationalizing the California Law of Expert Testimony (2009) 42 Loyola L.A. L.Rev. 427, 434–435.) It does not, however, extend to the specific information as to a predicate offense perpetrator’s gang affiliation, which is case-specific.

As this Court recognized in *Sanchez*, “an expert’s testimony regarding the basis for his opinion *must* be considered for its truth by the jury.” (*Sanchez, supra*, 63 Cal.4th at ap. 679; italics in original.) Prior to *Sanchez*, juries were instructed to consider hearsay matters admitted through expert testimony as relating only to the basis of the expert’s testimony, and not for their truth. (*People v. Perez, supra*, 9 Cal.5th at p. 8, quoting *People v. Montiel, supra*, 5 Cal.4th at p. 919.)

By arguing that Calderon’s testimony regarding the predicate offenses was general background information and therefore not subject to testimonial hearsay exclusion, the prosecution ignores *Sanchez*’s express change in the law (*Perez, supra*, at p. 8) and urges that testimonial hearsay be presented for jury consideration, just as it had been before *Sanchez*. As the Court of Appeal in this case reasoned, such a conclusion “would allow the prosecution to prove the existence of a gang through predicate offenses, without any actual evidence in the record that the crimes were committed by gang members.” (Slp.opn., at p. 23.)

Two Court of Appeal decisions support this position. In *People v. Ochoa* (2018) 7 Cal.App.5th 575, 588, the expert witness established a predicate offense by testifying that purported members of appellant’s gang had admitted their membership. (*Ibid.*) The Court concluded that this testimony related case-

specific hearsay to the jury, in violation of the hearsay rule. (*Ibid.*) And in *People v. Lara* (2016) 9 Cal.App. 5, h 296, 337, the Court also concluded that the expert's statements regarding predicate offenses were case-specific hearsay.

Appellant acknowledges there is a split of authority between Courts of Appeal as to whether expert testimony regarding predicate offenses is admissible as background information or case-specific hearsay. In *People v. Blessett* (2018) 22 Cal.App.5th 903, 945, review granted Aug. 8, 2018, S249250, the Court of Appeal concluded that "a predicate offense is essentially a chapter in the gang's biography." Similarly, in *People v. Bermudez* (2020) 45 Cal.App.5th 358, 376, the Court held that predicate offenses are "historical facts of the gang's conduct and activities." (See, also, *People v. Vega-Robles* (2017) 9 Cal.App.5th 392, 411.) However, appellant maintains that the Court of Appeal in this case correctly decided the matter, and that the testimony at issue here was case-specific hearsay testimony.

II. ANY ERROR IN THE ADMISSION OF THE GANG EXPERT'S TESTIMONY RELATING TO THE PREDICATE OFFENSES WAS PREJUDICIAL.

Were this Court to conclude, as the Court of Appeal did, that the gang expert's testimony relating to the predicate offenses was case-specific and therefore inadmissible hearsay under *Sanchez*, the error would be prejudicial under the harmless-beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard of *Chapman v. California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18, 24, and the gang convictions and enhancements must be reversed.

As *Sanchez* makes clear, a gang expert's reliance of testimonial hearsay in the form of case-specific testimony violates the confrontation clause. (*Crawford v. Washington, supra*, 541 U.S. 36)

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